User Guide for ModuLand Cytoscape plug-in

Created for the ModuLand plug-in version 1.4 (May 2012)

This user guide is based on the following publications, where the ModuLand method and its versions have been described in detail (Kovacs *et al.*), and their Cytoscape plug-in has been introduced (Szalay-Bekő *et al.*). Please cite these publications, if publishing your results with this program.

- Kovács, I.A., Palotai, R., Szalay-Bekő, M. and Csermely, P. (2010) Community landscapes: a novel, integrative approach for the determination of overlapping network modules. PLoS ONE 7, e12528
- Szalay-Bekő, M., Palotai, R., Szappanos, B., Kovács, I.A., Papp, B. and Csermely, P. (2012) ModuLand plug-in for Cytoscape: Determination of hierarchical layers of overlapping network modules and community centrality. <u>http://arxiv.org/abs/1111.3033</u>

Table of Contents

System requirements	2
Installation instructions	3
Step-by-step tutorial	4
Using the example networks	4
Starting the plug-in	5
ModuLand dialog box	7
Running ModuLand modularization	8
Merging the highly correlated modules	11
Completing all levels of the module hierarchy	12
Colouring the networks according to the module structure and exporting	
the module assignment data	13
Visualizing and exporting the network topology measures	17
Definitions of the ModuLand measures	19
Loading an existing ModuLand project and exporting a module level	
overview report	21
Updating the plug-in	24
Sending comment, feature request or bug report	27
References	

System requirements

The ModuLand plug-in is integrated to the platform-independent Java environment of the Cytoscape framework. However, calculations of the ModuLand plug-in are not entirely platform independent, since they were implemented in C / C++ language. These calculations were tested on the following operating systems:

- Ubuntu Linux 11.4 (32 and 64 bit versions)
- Microsoft Windows Vista (32 bit)
- Microsoft Windows 7 (32 bit and 64 bit versions)
- Mac OS X v10.6 "Snow Leopard"

During the development the following additional software versions were used:

- Java 1.6.23
- Cytoscape 2.8.1

The ModuLand plug-in requires Java version 1.6 or above. If you have not installed this, or a later version of Java on your desktop, you can download the latest Java Standard Edition JRE from the following link:

http://www.oracle.com/technetwork/java/javase/downloads/index.html

The ModuLand Cytoscape plug-in requires a <u>Cytoscape program</u> (version 2.8 or later) installed on the host machine. The <u>system requirement</u> for the Cytoscape program is the following:

	Small Network Visualization	Large Network Analysis/Visualization
Processor	1GHz	As fast as possible
Memory	512MB	2GB+
Graphics Card	On board Video	Highend Graphics Card
Monitor	XGA (1024X768)	Wide or Dual Monitor

Installation instructions

For installing Cytoscape and the ModuLand plug-in, please follow the steps described below.

Step 1: Download the latest Cytoscape from http://www.cytoscape.org/download.php



Step 2: Download the latest ModuLand plug-in file form the following link: <u>http://linkgroup.hu/modules_bioinfo_download.php</u>

Step 3: Install the downloaded ModuLand plug-in to the Cytoscape program by using the Cytoscape *Plugins* menu and the *Install Plugin from file* command:

A A A A A A A A		
Cytoscape Desktop (New Sessio	n)	
File Edit View Select Layout Plu	igins Help	
$\square \square \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc$	Manage Plugins Search:	
Control Panel	Install Plugin from File	
Network	Advanced Network Merge Network Analysis Network Modifications	
	Data Panel	5
		> II
	Node Attribute Browser Edge Attribute Browser Network Attribute Browser	
Welcome to Cytoscape 2.8.0 R	ight-click + drag to ZOOM Middle-click + drag to PAN	

Step-by-step tutorial

In the following chapters we will go through a step-by-step modularization process using the ModuLand Cytoscape plug-in.

During the step-by-step modularization process, you will find the numerical data obtained using the *Escherichia coli* Met-tRNA synthase protein structure network (one of the example networks) included in the plug-in package. We hope these numerical data may help the first-time-user to calculate the very same data and compare it to ours.

Using the example networks

Several example networks are available on the ModuLand plug-in homepage: <u>http://www.linkgroup.hu/modules.php</u>

The downloaded zip file contains the example networks in standard GML and Cytoscape compatible CYS format. The later files were saved by Cytoscape 2.8.1 after performing different layout operations on the networks. Both formats contain 'weight' attributes can be using for modularization. The current ModuLand plug-in does not support directed networks.

We recommend loading the networks in a CYS format, since some Cytoscape versions do not visualize GML type files automatically before running any visual layout operation on the freshly loaded network. CYS format is recommendable all the more, since Cytoscape allows the reproduction of the very same network image only by saving the node-coordinates in the CYS format. This feature also helps to obtain the same images found in the paper describing the ModuLand Cytoscape plug-in [Szalay-Bekő *et al.* 2012] or in its Supplementary Information.



Throughout this User Guide we will use the *E. coli* Met-tRNA synthase protein structure network as a test-network, which contains 547 amino acids as nodes and their 3D physical contacts as 2,153 weighted edges.

Step 1: Download the example networks, and open the following file in an empty Cytoscape session: 'E-coli-Met-tRNA-synthase-protein-structure-network.cys'



Starting the plug-in

You can start a new ModuLand analysis by selecting any existing network in the Cytoscape Navigator (see "A" on the enclosed figure), and then using the "Starting ModuLand on current network" command from the Plugins menu (B) or clicking to the appropriate icon on the toolbar (C):



Step 2: Select the network in the Control panel (left side), and start the ModuLand analysis by clicking to the ModuLand icon (marked with 'C' on the figure above).

After you started the ModuLand analysis, the plug-in will ask you to choose the directory, where all the modularization related data will be stored. Please do not modify the content of this directory later by hand! (If you delete or move some files from this directory, the project can be corrupted.) However, all the exported results and data files will be generated to this directory, so you can find all the reports here, after you closed Cytoscape.



Step 3: Choose an empty project directory. (It is important that your user must have permission to write to the given folder.)

In the next dialog, the plug-in will ask you to define, if you wish to run the analysis on a weighted or unweighted network. The ModuLand plug-in takes the weight of the edges from Cytoscape attributes. If you wish to use specific weight values, first you need to import it into Cytoscape in the standard way. It is possible to use any integer, float or Boolean type attribute as 'weight' for the ModuLand plug-in and you can set default values in case an edge does not have the selected attribute (or in case the attribute is zero or a negative number).



Step 4: Choose the attribute called "weight" from the list.

After you selected the weight attribute, the main ModuLand dialog box will open.

ModuLand dialog box

The ModuLand dialog box is showing general information about the module hierarchy and offering several functions to visualize or export the results calculated by the ModuLand plug-in. The dialog can be closed anytime. If you closed the dialog box, you can reopen by selecting the given network on the navigator and using the "Starting ModuLand on current network" button from the toolbar.



On the top of the ModuLand plug-in dialog box you can find a table showing basic information about the different levels of module hierarchy (A). Below the table there are four tabs grouping different buttons and other elements into feature categories (B). Using the "Running ModuLand" tab, you can manage (create and delete) the different levels of the module hierarchy. On the "Merge modules" tab you can merge the extremely overlapping modules (e.g. over the 90% threshold). The "Module Assignment" tab helps you to visualize or export the module structure of the selected network level, while on the "Measures" tab you can calculate and show various structural measures.

Running ModuLand modularization

On the "Running ModuLand" tab you can run the module determination on the level you selected in the level list on the top of the dialog window. After running the ModuLand algorithms on the selected level by the "Run" button (A), a new level will be created, where the nodes will refer to the modules of the original level, and the edges are weighted according to the module overlaps. You can also open the project folder any time (B), and you can change the weight attribute of the original network (C).



In the first step the LinkLand version of the ModuLand method [Kovacs *et al.*, 2010], which is implemented to the plug-in, is calculating the influence zone of each edge in the network. In the second step the community centrality value of each edge is determined by summing up all the influence-zones containing the given edge. According to our module definition, the module is the set of nodes, which mutually have a large influence on each other. Based on this definition, in the third step the plug-in identifies the overlapping modules as the hills on the community centrality landscape and assign each node of the network to the modules with different strength. The fourth step then is to create the metanetwork of modules called the next hierarchical level.

If you select option D, the plug-in will skip the first and second steps above, and will directly calculate the overlapping modules from the weights of the network using the weight values as community centrality values. Selection of option D is not recommended when calculating the modules of the original network. In case weights of the original network are representing centrality or density values already, then option D may be selected even for the calculating the higher hierarchical levels (actually the plug-in uses option D as default in calculating the higher levels of hierarchy). Using option D at higher hierarchical levels will result in a more detailed module structure. Switching off option D and using the LinkLand influence zone (community centrality) calculation method instead at higher levels of hierarchy modules will coalesce more rapidly, which will cause less levels in the hierarchical structure before we reach the final level, where all modules have been coalesced into a single meta-node.

By selecting the second option (E), ModuLand will omit the very small overlaps (caused by nodes belonging to a given module by less than 1%) during the creation of the new hierarchical level. This option (E) makes the running of the calculation quicker, and

results in much less very low intensity edges (e.g. with edge weight less than 0.000001) at the higher hierarchical level. In the usual cases the removal of these extremely weak edges are not changing the module structure too much. However, the influence of this option (E) on the modular structure depends on the network used. Therefore, this option (E) should be used carefully. The use of this option (E) is recommended especially in case of larger networks, where you would expect hundreds of modules. If you are using this option, it is possible that the higher level network will contain more than one component.

With the "help" buttons (F and G) you may check the description of these two options any time. You can also delete the calculations on the selected level with the "Clean" button (H). This action will delete all the higher levels together with all exported data files and results.

Step 5: Run the ModuLand plug-in on the original network. Press the Run button (do not select any of the two options).

This step creates the first hierarchical module level above the original network, and creates a new network that contains nodes representing the modules of the original network. The plug-in summarizes the result of the just accomplished step in an Info window. After running the ModuLand method on the original network, the colour of the nodes will be changed according to the colours of the modules identified by the plug-in.



The Control Panel on the left side shows the list of the networks available in Cytoscape. The newly appeared first hierarchical level module network can be seen in the bottom of the list (A).



The plug-in found 96 modules and counted 2,290 overlaps between module pairs of the test-network, the *E. coli* Met-tRNA synthase protein structure network. The network visualization of these modules was created in Cytoscape.

Step 6: Close the info window, press double click on the Network tab of the Cytoscape Control Panel to the newly created line, and open the first module level network.

By default, the new network is organized by the Grid layout of Cytoscape. Other layouts can be choosen from the Plugin menu (like force-directed layout or different yLayouts). The complex layouts provide a more pleasing view, but they can run for minutes in case of larger networks. Each of the meta-nodes in the new network represents a module, and its name is set to the name of the module centre node in the previous level of network hierarchy (which is in the current case the original network itself). All the meta-nodes of the new network are coloured with a unique colour. Unfortunately it is hard to separate the colours with human eyes, if you have more than 10 to 20 modules. If you select a meta-node in the new hierarchical level, it will select the node with the same name on the original network as well.



Merging highly correlated modules

Step 7: Open the ModuLand dialog, select the first line in the level list (representing the original network) and click to the "Merge modules" tab.



You can see the explanation of this feature any time, if you click to the "help" button (A). By selecting this option the plug-in calculates the Module Correlation histogram (B), showing the number of module pairs with the given correlation (similarity) values. If a module pair has high correlation value (close to 1), it means that the two modules are similar, i.e. contain roughly the same nodes with the same intensity. You can also check (C) the correlation matrix containing the correlation values calculated for each module pair. You can decide to merge (E) the highly correlated modules by giving a correlation threshold (D). The merging procedure is always based on the original modules. If you give the threshold value 1, then no modules will be merged. According to our experience the threshold value 0.9 proved to be a reasonable choice in case of highly overlapping modules.

If you merge the modules above the given threshold, all measures on the current level of network hierarchy and all information on all higher levels of network hierarchy will be removed automatically, since they were based on the module assignments you just changed by the merge command.

Step 8: Set the threshold value to 0.9, and merge the very similar modules by clicking to the Merge button.

After the merging process, a new version of the first hierarchical layer of networks will be created by the plug-in. The plug-in summarizes the result of the processed step on an info window.

49 modules remained in the *E. coli* Met-tRNA synthase protein structure network after merging of the highly correlated module pairs. The plug-in removed the previous network at the first hierarchical level containing 96 meta-nodes, and created a merged network at this hierarchical level having 49 meta-nodes and 490 edges.

Completing all levels of the module hierarchy

Step 9: Close the info window, select the new network and perform the Organic layout option in the Layout / yFiles menu. Then bring the ModuLand plug-in dialog to the front by clicking to the ModuLand icon on the toolbar. Select the second line in the level list, and click on the 'Running ModuLand' tab.



Step 10: Click on the Run button to create the next hierarchical level (uncheck both of the two options circled by red dashed lines on the figure above). Run the ModuLand algorithm again on the new level.

C Cytoscape Desktop (Session Name: E-coli-Met-tRNA-synthase-protein-structure-network.cys)	
File Edit View Select Layout Plugins Help	
🗁 🗔 🔍 🍳 🔍 🚳 🔯 🗟 🦄 🖉 🖙 Search:	
Control Panel Image: Source of the second	
O 547 2153 49 0.9 1 1 49 490 5 1 1 1 2 5 10 1 <	
TRP-204 ASN-382 Additional parameters for running the ModuLand method on the current level: Use the weights for module assignment instead of LinkLand centrality calculation. Reduce the number of links on higher level. Detailed reports about the modules identified on this level (module sizes, module centers, etc.):	
LYS-142 export module report on the selected level export module report on the original network Send comment or bug report Welcome to Cytoscape 2.8.0 Right-click move server weg server	2

After performing this step consecutively, we obtain 4 hierarchical layers of the *E. coli* Met-tRNA synthase protein structure network. As we go higher and higher in the hierarchical levels, the number of meta-nodes becomes smaller and smaller (49, 5 and 1) until the whole network will finally coalesce into a single meta-node.

Colouring the networks according to the module structure and exporting the module assignment data

On the "Module assignment" tab you can visualize the module structure of the selected level of the module hierarchy in Cytoscape. The four "show" buttons change the colour of the nodes (meta-nodes) either in the network, which belongs to the selected level (A, E), or in the original network (C, H). In both cases you can decide to ask for a discrete module assignment (A, C) where each node belongs to exactly one module. Alternatively, you may ask for the overlapping module assignments (E, H) where the colour of each node is mixed in ratio of the colours of modules, where the node belongs.

Step 11: Select the second line (level 1) in the module hierarchy list and go to the 'Module assignment' tab. Select the "change also the edge colours" (K) option and then click to the "show" button (H) besides the label "Overlapping module assignment (...) projected to the original level:".

Cytoscape Desktop (1)	Session Name: E-c Layout Plugins I	coli-Met-tRNA-synth Help	ase-protein-structure	network.cys)	- B	
Control Panel State Network VizMapper* Network Coli-Met-tRNA-synths Coli-Met-tRNA-synths Coli-Met-tRNA-synths ModuLand	* Editor Filters Nodes Ed ise-pro 547(0) 215 I - E-coli-Met-tRN	ges 33(0) A-synthase-protein	et-tRNA-synthase-prot	ein-structure-network	k	4
Module hierarch	v overview: nodes 0 1 2 3	links 547 49 5 1	modules 2153 490 10 0	merge 49 5 1 0	0.9 1 1 1	
Running Modul Discrete modu on selected projected tr	and Merge modul ale assignment: hierarchical level: b the original netwo	es Module assignmer	export csv	3		
Overlapping n on selected projected to K V thange	nodule assignment: hierarchical level: o the original netwo also edge colors (c	rk: H show an make the Cytoscap	e GUI slower)	open node infi	io csv J	۲ f a ک ر ب
No calculation i	s running,				Per	

If you choose to visualize the overlapping module assignments, then you may decide to colour the edges according to the mixed colour of their two nodes (K). The colour of the edges then remains the same until you change them trough other Cytoscape functions, or re-colour the edges of the network without enabling the edge colour option.

Please note, if you are saving the network into a Cytoscape session file (.cys), the module structure based colourings of the nodes or edges will not be saved. If you wish to restore these colourings, you will need to re-open the ModuLand project first (see step 14) and then you will be able perform the same colourings.

You can also export and open the different module assignment matrixes using a "csv" or "txt" format. First you will see the "export" text on buttons (B), (D), (F) and (I), and after you clicked them and exported the module assignment information then the labels will change to "open". The discrete module assignment information will be exported in "csv" format, while in the overlapping case the "txt" format is used due to the large amount of

data, which can overload some spreadsheet programs, like the earlier versions of Microsoft Excel.

In overlapping case you can get extra statistics in "csv" format (buttons G and J). This file lists for every node of the network the module assignment values for the modules the given node mostly belongs. This csv statistics gives a more readable format than the module assignment matrix mentioned before.

After colouring the original *E. coli* Met-tRNA synthase protein structure network according to the overlapping 5 modules identified on the first hierarchical level, node colours will be mixtures in ratio of the colours of the modules, where the node belongs. Edges are coloured according to the mixed colour of their two nodes.



Step 12: Click to the button (I) to export the projected overlapping module assignment. The text on the button changed now to "open txt", and the button (J) become enabled. Open and check both the txt data file and the node info csv file.



After opening the projected node info csv file exported in the last step, you will see the following table (screenshots taken from Microsoft Excel).

	A	В
1	the 10 modules where the node mostly belongs	Node id: ALA-4
2	moduleId	module assignment value
3	HIS-28	10.482884
4	TYR-490	0.338982
5	TRP-204	0.051856
6	ASN-382	0.010028
7		
8	the 10 modules where the node mostly belongs	Node id: LYS-5
9	moduleId	module assignment value
10	HIS-28	17.749777
11	TYR-490	0.197307
12	TRP-204	0.120052
13	ASN-382	0.005784
14		
15	the 10 modules where the node mostly belongs	Node id: LYS-6
16	moduleId	module assignment value
17	HIS-28	21.216524
18	TRP-204	0.129472
19	TYR-490	0.04393
20	ASN-382	0.001245

The ModuLand plug-in shows in the csv report file the name of the top 10 modules for each of the original nodes of the original network, decreasingly ordered by the module assignment values. The ModuLand plug-in determines the assignment value for all the node-module pairs. These assignment values are non-negative real numbers, which can be zero, if the given node does not belong to the given module at all. In the csv data file only those modules are listed, where the assignment values were higher than zero. The ten top modules are enough for the most of the cases to have a general overview about the module assignment of the given node.



No more than 5 modules will be listed in the analysis of the Met-tRNA synthase, since on the given hierarchical level we have only 5 (meta)modules left.

If you are interested on all the module assignment data (and not just the top ten modules for each node), then you should choose the txt format. The exported txt file contains the complete module assignment data containing all modules, as can be seen on the following page (for visualization we used the Programmer's Notepad program).

생 Programmer's Notepad - [E-	coli-Met-tRNA-synthase-protein-st	tructure-network-1_moduleBel	ongs_proj.txt]
File Edit Search View	Tools Window Help		
000000000000000000000000000000000000000	🖻 🛛 🖧 🖺 👘 🛛 Plain Text	-	▼ #
E-coli-Met-tRNA-synthase-pr	otein-structure-network-1_mod	uleBelongs_proj.txt	
hodes of the original node belong values in node belong values in node belong values in node belong values in node belong values in	network:,ALA-4,LYS-5,LYS-6, module HIS-28:,10.482884,17 module TRP-204:,0.051856,0 module TYR-490:,0.338982,0 module ASN-382:,0.010028,0 module LYS-142:,0.000000,0	,ILE-7,LEU-8,VAL-9,THR-1 7.749777,21.216524,35.34 .120052,0.129472,0.25772 .197307,0.043930,0.16607 .005784,0.001245,0.00477 .000000,0.000000,0.00000	10,CYS-11,AL 45310,35.561 26,0.238380, 78,0.029262, 76,0.000752, 00,0.000000,

In the .txt format the first line is the header. Each of the following line is representing a (meta-)module at the given hierarchical level, and shows the module assignment value for each of the nodes of the original network in the order they appear in the header. The "txt" format may be especially useful when analyzing large networks, where csv formats may overload some spreadsheet programs, like the earlier versions of Microsoft Excel.

Visualizing and exporting the network topology measures

On the "Measures" tab you can either visualize or export some useful measures (A-E) calculated based on the network and/or the overlapping module assignment information of the given level of the module hierarchy. First you need to calculate the given measure type, then you will be allowed to choose the "show" or the "export csv" buttons.



On the selected level you can calculate the weighted effective degree (A), the ModuLand community centrality (B) and the Betweenness centrality (C) of the nodes. Based on the module structure of the selected level, the ModuLand plug-in can also calculate the "Module overlap measure" (D) and "Module bridgeness measure" (E) values for each node of the original network.

If you click on the "show" button, the given measures will be added as attributes to the nodes, and the node colour will set based on the attribute to visualize values on a continuous scale from blue to red.

After colouring the *E. coli* Met-tRNA synthase protein structure network according to the module overlap measures calculated on the first hierarchical level, you will see the colours of the nodes to be set according to the measure in blue-to-red scale. If you did not change the edge colours in Cytoscape since the previous steps, the edges are still coloured according to the overlapping module assignments of their nodes visualizing the modules identified on the first hierarchical level of the network.



Step 13: Select the "Measures tab" and calculate the "Module overlap" values. Click to the enabled "show", "export csv" and "open csv" buttons. Try the other measures as well.

Since the data are organized in the same way in case of each measure of the csv file, you can easily merge ('copy-paste') into one table the three measures calculated on the selected hierarchical level (effective degree, ModuLand community centrality and betweenness centrality) and the two measures calculated for the nodes of the original network (ModuLand bridgeness and overlap).



The calculated measures of the Met-tRNA synthase are shown on the following figure. Since the data are organized in the same way in case of each measure of the csv file, you can easily merge ('copy-paste') into one table the three measures calculated on the selected level (effective degree, ModuLand community centrality and betweenness centrality values for each of the 49 meta-modules) and the two measures calculated for the nodes of the original network (ModuLand bridgeness and overlap values for the 547 amino acids).

/	Α	В	С	D		А	В	С
1	nodeID	effective degree	ModuLand community centrality	betweenness centrality	1	nodeID	ModuLand overlap	ModuLand bridgeness
2	TYR-490	11.109523	111810.3	0	2	ALA-4	1.192564	0.000086
3	TYR-260	13.84704	343673.1	19.014596	3	LYS-5	1.108403	0.002206
4	LEU-473	6.772878	28723.26	0	4	LYS-6	1.053712	0.00127
5	HIS-28	11.013364	191996.3	150.999807	5	ILE-7	1.076355	0.008426
6	LEU-447	8.107162	52083.33	25.472464	6	LEU-8	1.047959	0.00239
7	PHE-505	14.347497	37409.7	24.143319	7	VAL-9	1.133096	0.00607
8	LEU-113	11.465927	138411.4	48.6538	8	THR-10	1.127601	0.001333
9	TRP-204	8.23693	103052	127.482324	9	CYS-11	1.172533	0.004857
10	ALA-459	3.584986	1655.871	0	10	ALA-12	1.198701	0.005899
47	SER-178	3.048574	199.5889	0	545	LYS-547	2.58736	0.004042
48	LEU-210	4.654849	677.1175	1.981793	546	GLU-548	2.584141	0.003815
49	GLN-78	5.885966	568.5015	0	547	GLU-549	2.190928	0.001626
50	THR-511	5.923211	249.7736	0	548	VAL-550	2.459823	0.000168
51					549			

Definitions of the ModuLand measures

To understand the measures calculated by the ModuLand plug-in deeper, it is necessary to understand the basic steps of the ModuLand algorithm [Kovacs *et al.*, 2010]. The LinkLand modularization of a network used in the plug-in is starting by calculating the influence zone of each edge. The second step is to determine the community centrality value for each edge by summing up all the influence zones containing the given edge. According to our module definition, the module is the set of nodes, which mutually have a large influence on each other. Based on this definition, in the third step we identify the overlapping modules as the hills on the community centrality landscape, and assign each node of the network to the modules with different strength. The fourth step then is to create the next hierarchical level, where modules of the original network will be the meta-nodes of the next hierarchical level.

Community centrality

Community centrality values are reflecting the amount of influence zones containing the given edge. In the ModuLand plug-in the influence zone of an edge is defined by the LinkLand algorithm [Kovacs *et al.*, 2010]. The plug-in uses this algorithm to determine the community centrality values, unless the user disables this option on the ModuLand dialog, and requests to use the weight values instead (see chapter 'Running ModuLand modularization').

Betweenness centrality

The betweenness centraliy values are the same as the commonly used measured defined in [Freeman, 1977].

Effective number

The effective number is a measure counting the number of significant elements in a set of values. The formula is based on the definition of the effective support size [Grendar, 2006]. An example can be seen on the following figure, where three triads of different values are shown and the effective number of elements in each triad is shown under each set. Note, that the effective number is 3 only, when the significance (value) of each elements are the same.



Here 'effective' means that the number of the members is not counted in a discrete way, but it is expressed as a continuous measure taking into account the weight of the members, by giving larger weight to the important elements. In other words, the effective number shows us the number of important, significant or frequent nodes in the set. As an example, an element with a relatively small weight does not count as one full member, just as a small fraction of a full member. We introduce the effective number of the set V as:

$$n(V) = \exp(-\sum_{i} p_{i} \log p_{i})$$

, where

$$p_i = \frac{V_i}{\sum_j V_j}$$

This formula is used in some of the measures below, and also in the reports generated showing measures of each hierarchical level, where the plug-in counts the effective number of nodes for each module, and also the effective number of modules on the given hierarchical level.

Effective degree values

The ModuLand plug-in calculates the effective degree of each node by counting the effective number of edge weights connected to the given node. In case of unweighted networks, this value is equal to the number of neighbours.

ModuLand overlap values

ModuLand overlap values show the effective number of modules, where the given node is assigned to. This is a real value starting from 1.

ModuLand bridgeness values

ModuLand bridgeness values are real numbers starting from 0. The formula giving bridge values is defined in the Supplementary Information of [Kovacs *et al.*, 2010]. Bridge values are high, if the node has a large overlap between many module pairs.

Loading an existing ModuLand project and exporting a module level overview report

The ModuLand plug-in stores all the project related data in the project directory. If you wish to open an existing ModuLand analysis project, then you need to use the "Open ModuLand project folder" command from the Plugins menu or click on the appropriate icon on the toolbar (A).



Step 14: Create an empty Cytoscape session in the File / New / Session menu. Click the "Open ModuLand project" icon (A) and browse the project folder you defined at the beginning of the tutorial.

By performing these options the plug-in will open the ModuLand project, with all of the previous calculations and module levels. Please note, if you are saving the network into a Cytoscape session (.cys) file, the module structure-based colourings of the nodes or edges will not be saved. If you wish to restore these colourings, you will need to re-open the ModuLand project first (see step 11).

You can generate a report file for the module structure of the current hierarchical level by using buttons (A) and (B) on the "Running ModuLand" tab. The second button (B) will provide information about the module structure of the given hierarchical level projected back to the original network. If you selected the original network level, the projected module structure is the same as the normal module structure. In this case button (B) is disabled. The report file contains general information about the network (number of nodes, edges, modules, etc.) and will list the modules with their central nodes and module size information. First you need to "export" the report files, then the label of the buttons will change to "open …" indicating you can open the generated reports any time.

O Cytoscape I	Desktop (Sessi	on Name: E-coli-Met	-tRNA-synthase-pro	otein-structure-netwo	rk.cys)		
File Edit View	v Select Layo	ut Plugins Help					
	Q, ⊕, <u>C</u>) 🔍 📾 🕻) 🗈 🔀 🕻	Search:	-		2
Control Panel		<u> </u>	🖆 E-coli-Met-tRNA	-synthase-protein-s	🗆 🖻 🔀 🖆 E-	-coli-Met-tRNA-syntha	se-protein-s 👝 🔳 🎫
Network	/izMapper™ Ec	ditor Filters					22
Network	🕌 ModuLar	nd - E-coli-Met-tRNA	-synthase-protein-s	tructure-network			
📗 E-coli-Met-ti	Module hierarc	hy overview:					A.
E-coli-M	level	nodes	links	modules	merge		Š.
E-coli-Me		1	49	490	5	1	
E-coli-Mi		2	5	10	1	1	-
		3	1	0	0	1	
				1 <u>1</u>			
	Running Mod	uLand Merge modules	Module assignment	Measures		RNA-synthas	se-protein-s 👝 回 🔀
	(run	open project fold	er change we	ight dean		
	Additional pa	rameters for running th	e ModuLand method o	on the current level:			200
	Use the	weights for module as	signment instead of Li	nkLand centrality calcula	tion. help		-20
	Reduce	the number of links on	higher level.		help		
X	Detailed repo etc.):	orts about the modules	dentified on this level	(module sizes, module o	enters,		
	A export on the	module report selected level	export module rep on the original net	ort B work	Send com or bug rep	ment port	€ f ⇔ 🗁 ■
	No calculation	n is running.					ý Z
		11	NOGE ALCODOLE DI OWS	CI			
Welcome to Cyt	oscape 2.8.0	Right-click + drag	to ZOOM Mid	dle-click + drag to PAN			

Step 15: Select the first level (the second line) in the Module hierarchy overview table, then export and open both overview reports (A and B buttons).

The screenshot shows the report file of the given hierarchical level projected back to the original network (button B). The report shows the basic information of the given hierarchical level (the number of nodes, edges and modules), the basic information of each module (about the different definitions of the module sizes) and for each module the report lists the top 10 module core nodes (the nodes are decreasingly ordered by their module assignment values).



The following figure shows the projected overview report generated about the module structure identified on the first hierarchical level of the Met-tRNA synthase network.

	A	В	C	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J
1	project:			E-coli-Met-tRNA-syn	thase-protein-struct	ure-netwo	ork			
2	level:			1						
3	nodes on th	is level:		49						
4	links on this	level:		490						
5	nodes on th	e original network:		547						
6	links on the	original network:		2153						
7	are the mod	lules projected to th	e original network:	YES						
8	number of n	nodules:		5						
9	effective nu	mber of modules:		3.266426932						
10	module mer	ge correlation thres	hold:	1						
11	original nun	ber of modules bef	ore merge:	5						
12										
13	Detailed mo	dule info:								
14	moduleId	number of nodes	eff. number of nodes	module size (sum of module assignment values)	maximum module assignment value	modu ma	le center r ximum ass	iodes (nod ignment v	es with alue)	
15	HIS-28	547	378.02792	8598.344	51.718563	TYR-260				
16	TRP-204	547	103.0783	760.66644	25.86719	TRP-221				
17	TYR-490	540	178.74016	3506.9573	54.27747	TYR-490				
18	ASN-382	466	75.772125	815.1889	33.32877	PHE-377				
19	LYS-142	242	65.36767	1339.2533	34.267094	CYM-145				
20										
21	the 10 core i	nodes (decreasingly	ordered by the mod	lule assignment value	s) of the module HIS	5-28				
22	TYR-260	HIS-28	TRP-281	ASN-102	ARG-356	PHE-84	PHE-264	GLN-30	TRP-34	TYR-280
23	the 10 core i	nodes (decreasingly	ordered by the mod	lule assignment value	s) of the module TR	P-204				
24	TRP-221	TRP-204	LEU-201	ASN-216	MET-218	GLU-220	GLN-202	PHE-197	PHE-222	SER-198
25	the 10 core i	nodes (decreasingly	ordered by the mod	lule assignment value	s) of the module TY	R-490				
26	TYR-490	TYR-418	MET-479	ILE-400	ARG-485	GLN-474	LEU-473	PHE-484	CYS-477	SER-478
27	the 10 core i	nodes (decreasingly	ordered by the mod	lule assignment value	s) of the module AS	N-382				
28	PHE-377	ASN-382	VAL-386	ASP-384	ILE-385	ASN-387	VAL-381	VAL-378	VAL-390	ALA-383
29	the 10 core i	nodes (decreasingly	ordered by the mod	lule assignment value	s) of the module LY	5-142				
30	CYM-145	TYR-128	TYR-165	LEU-170	GLN-126	SER-175	VAL-141	LYS-142	PRO-167	GLN-153
31										

Updating the plug-in

It is highly recommended to always use the latest version of the ModuLand Cytoscape plug-in. If you wish to update the plug-in, please follow the next steps:

Setp 1: Download the latest plug-in version from the <u>http://www.linkgroup.hu/modules.php</u> site.

Step 2: Start Cytoscape, and select to the 'Plugins / Manage Plugins' menu item. You will see the ModuLand plug-in in the list: 'Currently Installed / Analysis / Moduland'

Cytoscape Desktop (New Session) File Edit View Select Layout Plugins Help Manage Plugins Control F Search Settings Enter key words to search Network	Search Clear	
Show only plugins verified to work in Currently Installed: 20 Moduland villo Core: 19 Available for Install: 305 Available for In	n this release ModuLand Version: 1.0 Category: Analysis Description: Cytoscape plug-in of the ModuLand overlapping modularisation method.	5 f
Welcome to Cytoscape 2.8.0 Right-click + dra	Node Attribute Browser Edge Attribute Browser Network Attribute Browser ag to ZOOM Middle-click + drag to PAN	

Step 3: Delete the ModuLand plug-in.

Ic Cytoscape Desktop (New Session)
ontrol P Search Settings
Network Enter key words to search
etwork Search Clear
Show only Verify Delete Plugin Currently Image: Currently Correl Are you sure you want to delete the plugin 'ModuLand'? Changes will not take effect until you have restarted Cytoscape. Image: Correl Available Yes Mark No Analy Image: Correl Messages: Description: Cytoscape plug-in of the ModuLand Image: Correl Messages: Delete
Node Attribute Browser Edge Attribute Browser Network Attribute Browser
elcome to Cytoscape 2.8.0 Right-click + drag to ZOOM Middle-click + drag to PAN

Step 4: Restart Cytoscape.

Step 5: Install the new plug-in by the 'Plugins / Install Plugin from File' command.

O Cytoscape Desktop (New Session	n)			
File Edit View Select Layout Plu	gins Help			
⊳ , Q, Q, Q, Q,	Manage Plugins Update Plugins	Search:		
Control Panel	Install Plugin from File			
Is Network VizMapper™ Edito	Advanced Network Merge Network Analysis Network Modifications			
	Data Panel			5
		8 🗑		f(x) 🗁 🔛
	ID			
	Node Attribute Bro	wser Edge Attribute Browser	Network Attribute Browser	
Welcome to Cytoscape 2.8.0 Ri	ight-click + drag to ZOOM N	liddle-click + drag to PAN		

Step 5: You can verify the version of the new plug-in in the 'Plugins / Manage Plugins' dialog.



Sending comment, feature request or bug report

Please use the following link to send us your feedback about the ModuLand Cytoscape plug-in: <u>http://www.linkgroup.hu/moduland_comment.php</u>. Thank you very much for helping us to make this program better!

LINK-group
news members projects publications education links contact Comments
Please share your comment, proposal or bug report regarding the ModuLand method family (the Cytoscape plug-in or the earlier binary linux version). Your feedback is very important for us to develop the method family further. If you are submitting a bug report for the Cytoscape plug-in, please attach the log file (runlog.txt) from the moduLand plugin directory. (max 10 MB) It is optionally, but can help us to find the root cause of the problem.
Published by the LINK-Group <u>Editor: Péter Csernely</u> Last updated on 25. Marc. 2011. Questions <u>Address Design and maintenance</u> Vistors since 7th July 2004; 0067606

You can also start the webpage from the ModuLand plug-in, by using the "Send comment or bug report" button on the "Running ModuLand" tab of the main ModuLand dialog.

Running ModuLand	Merge modules	Module assignment	Measurements	
run		open project folde	r change weig	ght dean
Additional parameter	s for running the	ModuLand method o	n the current level:	
Use the weight	s for module assi	gnment instead of Lin	kLand centrality calculation	on. help
Reduce the nur	nber of links on h	iigher level.		help
Detailed reports abo	ut <mark>the modules</mark> io	dentified on this level	(module sizes, module cer	nters,
eic.j:				
-		and the second state of the second		Cond comment

References

Freeman,L.C. (1977) A set of measures of centrality based upon betweenness. *Sociometry* **40**, 35–41.

Grendar, M. (2006) Entropy and effective support size. Entropy 8, 169–174.

Kovács, I.A., Palotai, R., Szalay-Bekő, M. and Csermely, P. (2010) Community landscapes: a novel, integrative approach for the determination of overlapping network modules. *PLoS ONE* **7**, e12528.

Szalay-Bekő, M., Palotai, R., Szappanos, B., Kovács, I.A., Papp, B. and Csermely, P. (2012) ModuLand plug-in for Cytoscape: Determination of hierarchical layers of overlapping network modules and community centrality. <u>http://arxiv.org/abs/1111.3033</u>.